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THE MILLS OF BARCOMBE 
PARISH 

Bob Bonnett 

In the Domesday Survey of 1086, Barcombe - ȿ!ÌÙÊÏÈÔɀɯ- is 

ÔÌÕÛÐÖÕÌËɯÈÚɯÏÈÝÐÕÎɯȿÛÏÙÌÌɯÈÕËɯÖÕÌɯÏÈÓÍɀɯÔÐÓÓÚɯÞÐÛÏɯÈÕɯ

annual rent of 20 shillings (£1) and in the ownership of 

William de Waterville. The rent of 20 shillings was the total 

for all the mills. The half mill is the proportion (50%) taken 

as rent. Mills with two pairs of stones were classed as two 

mills in the survey. I have seen a report that a mill was half 

in Barcombe and half in the neighbouring parish of Isfield. 

No mill is reported in Isfield in the Domesday books.  

Watermills were used for other purposes than grinding 

corn, such as fulling, and even ore-crushing was listed in 

the Survey. Animal mills were also included, therefore it is 

possible that one of the mills surveyed at Barcombe may 

have been a fulling mill or animal -powered. 

With Barcombe having more than three mills, it raises the 

question: why so many? Was it because this area was the 

Saxon Hundred meeting place?  Perhaps the Barcombe 

area was a central settlement where courts were attended 

by freemen from the district, thus attracting large 

gatherings. The only Saxon feature so far discovered in 

Barcombe was located in the courtyard of the Roman Villa. 

Maybe there is more to be discovered. 

In 1572 two watermills are recorded in Barcombe. In Edna 

ÈÕËɯȿ,ÈÊɀɯ,Ê"ÈÙÛÏàɀÚɯÛÏÐÙËɯÉÖÖÒɯÐÕɯÛÏÌÐÙɯÛÙÐÓÖÎàɯSussex 

River ÛÏÌàɯÙÌÊÖÙËɯÛÏÈÛɯÛÏÌàɯÍÖÜÕËɯɯȿƕƚth century references to 

Thomas Erith and his wife Denise who held a fulling mill at 

Barcombe now called a corn mill, and a 17th century 

ÙÌÍÌÙÌÕÊÌɯÛÖɯÛÏÌɯÓÐÛÛÓÌɯÔÐÓÓɯÖÍɯ!ÈÙÊÖÔÉÌɀȭɯ 

 ɯÞÈÛÌÙÔÐÓÓɯÈÛɯ!ÈÙÊÖÔÉÌɯÐÚɯÔÌÕÛÐÖÕÌËɯÖÕɯ!ÜËÎÌÕɀÚɯƕƛƖƗɯ

large-scale map of Sussex. The mill appears again on the 

next large-scale map of Gardner, Yeakell and Gream in 

1795. It is probable, therefore, that a watermill worked on 

this site, or close by, from before the Domesday Survey 

until the start of the Second World War.  

No windmills are shown on either map. With two sites 

where windmills might have stood shown on the tithe map 

of 1839, it is probable that windmills did work in the period 

between the two maps.  

Barcombe Watermill was in operation from the 1780s and 

the oil mill, which also ground corn, from the 1800s. Why, 

with this local milling capacity, was a new windmill built in 

ƕƜƕƜȳɯ3ÏÌɯ/ÈÙÐÚÏɯÖÍɯ!ÈÙÊÖÔÉÌɀÚɯ×Ö×ÜÓÈÛÐÖÕɯÐÕɯƕƜƕƜɯÞÈÚɯ

about 730 ɭ not enough to ensure that the windmill would 

be profitable. Flour and animal feed produced in the mills 

was possibly transported to Lewes by river. We know that 

ÛÏÌɯÙÐÝÌÙɯÞÈÚɯÕÈÝÐÎÈÉÓÌɯÈÚɯ!ÜËÎÌÕɀÚɯÔÈ×ɯÖÍɯƕƛƖƗɯÚÏÖÞÚɯÛÏÌɯ

Ouse navigable to Isfield. This was long before the 

navigation was constructed in the 1790s. 

In 1858 the Lewes to Uckfield railway line was opened and 

later sidings accessed the two watermills, increasing their 

opportunity to sell their produce further afield.  

 Barcombe Windmills  

The tithe map of 1839 names two possible sites 

where windmills might have stood in addition to the 

ÔÐÓÓÚɯËÌÛÈÐÓÌËɯÉÌÓÖÞȭɯ3ÏÌɯÕÈÔÌɯȿ,ÐÓÓɯ,ÌÈËɀɯÐÚɯÚÏÖÞÕɯ

west of the road from Barcombe to Barcombe Cross. 

ȿ,ÐÓÓɯ%ÐÌÓËɀɯÐÚɯÚÏÖÞÕɯǚɯÔÐÓÌɯÌÈÚÛɯÖÍɯ!ÈÙÊÖÔÉÌɯ"ÙÖÚÚȭ 

'ÈÞÊÖÊÒɀÚɯ,ÐÓÓ 

Under Barcombe in Schedule 2 of the 1801 Defence 

Schedule, a windmill and one watermill are entered 

capable of supplying 30 sacks of flour every 24 hours 

between them. The windmill was most probably 

'ÈÞÊÖÊÒɀÚɯ,ÐÓÓȭɯ3ÏÌɯ.ÙËÕÈÕÊÌɯ2ÜÙÝÌàɯÔÈ×ɯÖÍɯƕƜƕƗɯ

shows the mill south of the road to Hamsey 

Common. As the mill does not appear on the 

Gardner, Yeakell and Gream map of 1795 it was probably 

built around 1800.   

The Sussex Weekly Advertiser dated 9 March 1818 

reports: 

ȿ.Õɯ2ÈÛÜÙËÈàɯÔÖÙÕÐÕÎɯÞÌɯÏÈËɯÈÎÈÐÕɯÈɯÏÌÈÝàɯÎÈÓÌɯÖÍɯ

wind, which blew down a windmill at Barcombe, 

belonging to Mr. Hawcock, and did other damage in 

ÛÏÌɯÕÌÐÎÏÉÖÜÙÏÖÖËȭɀ 

The same gale damaged fishing craft at Selsey and 

Bognor. In a sales notice dated 27 April in the same 

×È×ÌÙɯÛÏÌɯËÈÔÈÎÌɯÞÈÚɯÙÌ×ÖÙÛÌËɯÈÚɯȿÛÙÐÍÓÐÕÎɀȮɯÉÜÛɯÖÕÌɯ

wonders why the mill was so soon advertised for 

sale: 

ȿ3ÖɯÉÌɯÚÖÓËɯÈÛɯÈÜÊÛÐÖÕɯÉàɯ5ÌÙÙÈÓÓɯȫɯ2ÖÕȮɯÈÛɯÛÏÌɯ2ÛÈÙɯ(ÕÕȮɯ

Lewes, on 2 May. A Post Windmill, the property of Mr. 

John Awcock, built a few years since, which was blown 

down in the gale of March 7, situated near Barcombe 

Church, and late in the occupation of Messrs Morley & 

Guy. The damaged sustained is but trifling: the 

principle parts will come to hand without new 

framing, and the breast, round -beam, stones, wheels, 

sweeps and one stock etc. etc. are not damaged by the 

fall. May be viewed and particulars known by 

applying to Mr. Awcock, Barcombe, or Mr. John 

2ÛÙÌÌÛÌÙȮɯ,ÐÓÓÌÙȮɯ/ÙÌÚÛÖÕȭɀ 

It is probable that the mill was not rebuilt, although 

it continued to be shown on the revised Ordnance 
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2ÜÙÝÌàɯ ÔÈ×ɯ ÖÍɯ ƕƜƘƗȭɯ &ÙÌÌÕÞÖÖËɀÚɯ ÔÈ×ɯ ÖÍɯ ƕƜƖƙȮɯ

surveyed in 1823 and 1824, only shows Barcombe 

Windmill to the north.  

Barcombe Windmill  

Barcombe Windmill was built around 1818 soon 

ÈÍÛÌÙɯ'ÈÞÊÖÊÒɀÚɯ,ÐÓÓɯÞÈÚɯÉÓÖÞÕɯËÖÞÕȮɯ×ÖÚÚÐÉÓàɯÛÖɯ

replace it. The mill was built by millwright Jesse 

Pumphery who then worked it until 1825 when he 

sold it to John Holroyd. Richard Jenner became the 

first tenant.  The Sussex Advertiser of 1 June 1835 

advertised Barcombe Place, the house, together with 

Burtenshaw Farm, land and Barcombe Windmill for 

sale. The estate, including the mill, was again offered 

for sale in 1836 in January and October and again in 

October 1837. During this period the mill was let to 

Mr. Richard Jenner. In 1839 Jenner was succeeded by 

Henry Guy.  

Action in the High Court brought about the next sale 

offer, first advertised in the London Gazette dated 30 

May 1845: 

ȿ2ÜÚÚÌßȮɯ×ÈÙÛɯÖÍɯÛÏÌɯ$ÚÛÈÛÌÚɯÖÍɯÛÏÌɯÓÈÛÌɯ)ÖÏÕɯ'ÖÓÙÖàËɯ

Esq. 

To be sold by auction under an order of the High Court 

of Chancery in a case of Holroyd v Wyatt, at the Star 

(ÕÕȮɯ+ÌÞÌÚȮɯËÜÙÐÕÎɯ)ÜÓàɯƕƜƘƙȭɀ 

ȿ ɯÍÙÌÌÏÖÓËɯÌÚÛÈÛÌɯÈÛɯ!ÈÙÊÖÔÉÌɯÊÖÕÚÐÚÛÐÕÎɯÖÍɯÈɯÊÈ×ÐÛÈÓɯ

Windmill driving two pairs of stones, and buildings, 

ÓÌÛɯÛÖɯ,Ùȭɯ&ÜàɯÈÕËɯ,Ùȭɯ&ÖÖËɯÈÛɯȟƙƘɯƕƔÚɯƔËɯ×ÌÙɯÈÕÕÜÔȭɀ 

The mill was again advertised for sale by auction in 

the Sussex Advertiser in their 26 April and 2 May 1848 

editions.  

Mr. Guy and Mr. Good were still in residence; the 

only difference was the rent was reduced to £49 12s 

0d per annum. Good may have left soon after and 

then, in 1851, Miss M. Guy is listed as miller, 

followed in 1855 by Henry Guy. Simmons lists Mrs. 

Mary Martin at the mill between 1855 and 1870, but 

this is uncertain. In 1882 John Locke was in 

occupation; Mrs. Mary Martin, miller, is in the 

Manor House, presumably the owner of the mill.  

Simmons interviewed Mr. Bunney in 1937, a relation 

(son?) of Mr. E. Bunney who, in 1891, had purchased 

the mill house and mill site. The mill was not 

working when Bunney purchased it. The following 

are his notes from the interview:  

ȿ5ÌÙàɯ ÏÐÎÏɯ ÞÏÐÛÌɯ ×ÖÚÛɯ ÔÐÓÓɯ ÞÐÛÏɯ ÛÈÐÓ-pole and 

exceptionally large sweeps. Three floors, on brick 

roundhouse. The only mill on this site. Horse pulled it 

round when it required to be turned. Owned by Henry 

Guy, then Henry Gaston, then bought by Mrs. Hensley 

and rented from her by Mr. John Locke, who was the 

last to work it. Sold to Mr. E. W. Bunney in 1891 by 

Mrs. Hemsley for the ground and mill house. He 

wanted it taken down, but the millwrights wanted £30 

and all the materials for the job, which he would not 

pay, so it was left alone and the roundhouse was used 

as a hen house, selling eggs etc. It was eventually burnt 

down about 29 or 30 years ago (1900/01) one day at 

ÍÖÜÙɯÖɀÊÓÖÊÒɯÐÕɯÛÏÌɯÈÍÛÌÙÕÖÖÕȭɯ3ÏÌɯÊÈÜÚÌɯÞÈÚɯÕÌÝÌÙɯ

known: it was thought to have started in the top of the 

mill; there was a gale blowing at the time and the 

burning wood was blown a tremendous way ɬ some 

parts a quarter of a mile away. The wood was very 

thick and strong and the centre post was 2ft. square. 

Mr. Bunney got £100 insurance and also sold the 

interior as quite a lot was saved. No hens were burnt; 

the only thing of value lost was a gun belonging to the 

present Mr. Bunney. The mill house is still known by 

that name and the bakehouse is now turned into the 

ÎÈÙÈÎÌȭɀ 

Barcombe Oil Mills  

The Royal Exchange Fire Insurance Policy No. 

138560, dated 26 February 1794, appears to be the 

first record of Barcombe Oil Mills:  

Fig. 1  Barcombe Mill as seen in the photograph taken in 

1874. The mill was large and tall with two common and 

two shuttered sweeps. (Peter Hill collection.)  
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ȿ3ÏÖÔÈÚɯ1ÐÊÒÔÈÕɯÑÕÙȭɯ.Íɯ+ÌÞÌÚɯÐÕɯÛÏÌɯ"ÖȭɯÖÍɯ2ÜÚÚÌßȭɯ

On his Oil Mills brick built and slated situated in the 

parish of Barcombe in the Co. aforesaid £200. On the 

going gears running tackle and machinery therein 

ȟƖƔƔȭɀɯ 

These values increased to £300 and £500 respectively 

in 1800. 

No mention is made on the policy of Samuel 

Durrant, who is recorded as being in partnership 

with Thomas Rickman from 1793. It was the two of 

them who built the mill. In the Defence Schedule of 

ƕƜƔƕȮɯ 1ÐÊÒÔÈÕɀÚɯ ÞÈÛÌÙÔÐÓÓɯ ÈÕËɯ ÛÏÌɯ !ÈÙÊÖÔÉÌɯ

Windmill are recorded, the watermill being able to 

provide a 21-day supply of flour. Rickman, at the 

time, owned the oil mill (which also milled), 

Barcombe Watermill down river and Barcombe 

Windmill. All three milled grain, which was not 

noted in the schedule.  

In 1809 the mill building, corn -milling machinery 

and oil machinery were insured, again to Thomas 

Rickman. This time they were separated at £250, £50 

and £200 respectively.  

The Sussex Weekly Advertiser dated September 19 

1808 only records Samuel Durrant:  

ȿ.Õɯ 3ÏÜÙÚËÈàɯ ÓÈÚÛȮɯ Èɯ ÔÈÕɯ ÌÔ×ÓÖàÌËɯ Éàɯ ,ÌÚÚÙÚȭɯ

Durrant & Co. in their Oil Mill at Barcombe, was much 

hurt by the water wheel, whilst in motion; but we are 

glad to hear good hopes are entertained of his 

ÙÌÊÖÝÌÙàȭɀɯ 

Durrant is again recorded in 1810 in the Royal 

Exchange Fire Insurance Policy, No. 251532. He had 

a warehouse in Lewes:  

ȿƗɯ%ÌÉÙÜÈÙàɯƕƜƕƔȯɯ2ȭɯ6ȭɯ#ÜÙÙÈÕÛɯȫɯ"ÖȭɯÖÍɯ+ÌÞÌÚȮɯ"ÖɯÖÍɯ

2ÜÚÚÌßȮɯ"ÖÙÕȮɯ%ÓÖÜÙɯÈÕËɯ.ÐÓɯ,ÌÙÊÏÈÕÛÚȭɀɯ.ÕɯÜÛÌÕÚÐÓÚɯ

and trade in their Warehouse, timber and slated, 

situated near the river in the parish of All Saints in 

Lewes, in which it is warranted no hazardous goods 

ÈÙÌɯËÌ×ÖÚÐÛÌËɯȟƗƔƔƔȭɀ 

ȿ.ÕɯÚÛÖÊÒɯÐÕɯÛÙÈËÌɯÐÕÊÓÜËÐÕÎɯ!ÖÓÛÐÕÎɯ"ÓÖÛÏÚɯÌÛÊȭɯÐÕɯÛÏÌÐÙɯ

new built Water Corn Millhouse only adjoining and 

communicating with their Oil Mill, timber and slated, 

situated in the Parish of Barcombe, Co. aforesaid, 

£1000. On moveable utensils etc. in the said Oil Mill 

ÖÕÓàɯȟƙƔƔȭɀ 

The partnership of Thomas Rickman Jnr. and 

Samuel Durrant ended in 1812. 

By 1834 the mill was owned by Russell Gray who is 

recorded in *ÌÓÓàɀÚɯ#ÐÙÌÊÛÖÙà ÈÚɯ ȿ,ÐÓÓÌÙɯ ÈÕËɯ 2ÌÌËɯ

"ÙÜÚÏÌÙȭɀɯ 3ÏÌɯ ÔÐÓÓɯ ÞÈÚɯ ÈËÝÌÙÛÐÚÌËɯ ÐÕɯ ÛÏÌɯSussex 

Weekly Advertiser, 25 April 1848, together with the 

watermill downstream for sale by auction on May 16 

1848 at the Star Inn, Lewes.  The advertisement gave 

the following details of the Oil Mill:   

Fig. 2  The Oil Mills, Barcombe 
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ȿ ÓÚÖȮɯ ÕÌÈÙɯ ÛÖɯ ÛÏÌɯ ÈÉÖÝÌȮɯ ÖÕɯ ÛÏÌɯ 1ÐÝÌÙɯ .ÜÚÌȮɯ ÛÏÌɯ

celebrated Freehold Oil Mills, fitted with two breast 

wheels, two pair of large vertical grinding stones, 15 

presses, stoves, and two pair of rollers; also four pair 

of corn mill French stones, double action high pressure 

steam engine, extensive warehouse, and oil cisterns to 

hold 70 tons of oil, together with a substantial 

warehouse with three floors situated in the town of 

Lewes and on the River Ouse. The purchaser of the 

corn mill will have the option of taking by valuation 

ÛÏÌɯ ÞÌÓÓɯ ÌÚÛÈÉÓÐÚÏÌËɯ ÉÈÒÌÙÚɀɯ ÚÏÖ×Úɯ ÈÛɯ !ÙÐÎÏÛÖÕɯ ÈÕËɯ

ÌÓÚÌÞÏÌÙÌȭɀ 

(The corn mill referred to above is Barcombe Mill 

which was included in the advertisement and also 

owned by Russell Gray. See below.) 

The method used to extract the oil when the mill 

was built is not known. It is possible that a steam 

engine was installed when the mill was built; a 

Boulton and Watt double -acting steam engine was 

purchased by Cotes and Jarratt for their oil mill in 

'ÜÓÓɯÐÕɯƕƛƜƗȭɯ(ÛɯÐÚɯÔÖÙÌɯÓÐÒÌÓàɯÛÏÈÛɯȿÚÛÈÔ×ÌÙÚɀɯÞÌÙÌɯ

first used, driven from the water wheel, and then 

later these were replaced by presses powered from 

the steam engine. 

The main oils processed were linseed, hemp, 

rapeseed and mustard. The first part of the process 

is to crush the seeds (bruising the seeds) under large 

heavy edge runners. These are a pair of vertical 

circular stones freely mounted at the ends of a short 

horizontal axle. A vertical shaft is joined to the 

middle of the axle and rotating this shaft causes the 

stones to revolve on a circular base crushing the 

seeds laid in their path.  

The Romans used hand- and animal-turned runners 

to crush olives. Also in the second century AD the 

Chinese used runner stones for hulling rice. It was 

the Chinese who, as early as the fifth century, 

adapted water power to drive edge stones. 

Although suited to many industrial processes, it was 

not until the seventeenth century that the edge 

runner mill was used widely in Europe.  

The bruised linseeds would then be warmed in a 

large cast iron stove to help extract the oil. Rapeseed 

needs little or no heat and can cause health problems 

to workers if heated. The seeds are then removed 

and emptied into porous woollen bags; the bags are 

wrapped in a horsehair and leather blanket and 

placed in one of a number of partitions in a long 

wooden trough. Wooden wedges are placed either 

side of the bags, one with the thick end up, the other 

ÛÏÐÊÒɯÌÕËɯËÖÞÕȭɯȿ2ÛÈÔ×ÌÙÚɀɯÚÛÈÔ×ɯËÖÞÕɯÖÕɯÛÏÌɯÛÖ×ɯ

of the wedge with the thick end up squeezing the oil 

from the seeds. Fifty or more strokes may be needed 

until the stamps bounce indicating that the wedge 

has reached the bottom. The bag is removed by 

Fig. 3  from The Illustrated London News ÖÍɯƗƕɯ,ÈàɯƕƜƚƖȮɯɯÚÏÖÞÐÕÎɯȿ,ÈÙÛÐÕɯ2ÈÔÜÌÓÚÖÕɯȫɯ"Öȭɯ,ÈÊÏÐÕÌɯÍÖÙɯ"ÙÜÚÏÐÕÎɯ

ÈÕËɯ&ÙÐÕËÐÕÎɯ+ÐÕÚÌÌËȮɯ$ßÛÙÈÊÛÐÕÎɯÛÏÌɯ.ÐÓɯÈÕËɯ,ÈÒÐÕÎɯ.ÐÓɯ"ÈÒÌɀɯÈÛɯÛÏÌɯƕƜƚƖɯ+ÖÕËÖÕɯ$ßÏÐÉÐÛÐÖÕȭ 
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stamping on the other wedge to release the pressure. 

Often not all the oil is extracted and, therefore, the 

contents are returned to the stove and the process 

repeated. The bags can be used many times and 

repaired when necessary. 

The waterwheel would, before the installation of the 

steam engine, drive the stampers. The stampers 

were set in large strong wooden frames and lifted 

up by cams or pegs. The edge stones were driven by 

gear wheels from the waterwheel. 

3ÏÌɯÙÌÔÈÐÕÚɯÈÍÛÌÙɯÛÏÌɯÚÌÊÖÕËɯ×ÙÌÚÚÐÕÎȮɯÛÏÌɯȿÊÈÒÌɀȮɯ

would be used as fertiliser or cattle feed. Small mills 

or cake crushers were made to turn cake into stock 

feed. Seed oil was used for lighting, cooking and 

many industrial uses including paint manufacture. 

Probably the first oil mill in England was built in 

Hull in the fourteenth century. The Oil Mill, 

Barcombe, in 1835 was advertising linseed oil cake 

at £11 per thousand, for, of course, cash. 

In August 1848 R. H. Billiter in the Sussex Weekly 

Advertiser:  

ȿ!ÌÎÚɯÛÖɯÐÕÍÖÙÔɯÛÏÌɯÊÖÕÚÜÔÌÙÚɯÖÍɯ.ÐÓɯ"ÈÒÌɯÛÏÌɯ.ÐÓɯ,ÐÓÓɯ

has commenced working for the season, and that they 

can now be supplied with Genuine Linseed Cake at 

£10 ɬ 10s. ɬ 0d. per ton. Terms as in London, namely 

ÙÌÈËàɯÔÖÕÌàȭɀɯ 

Two years later Mr. Billiter appealed, 

unsuccessfully, against the rating of the mill 

ÖÊÊÜ×ÐÌËɯ Éàɯ ÏÐÔȭɯ  ɯ ȿ&ÙÈàɀɯ ÚÛÐÓÓɯ È××ÌÈÙÚɯ ÐÕɯ ÛÏÌɯ

records until 1855, but Billiter is shown as the 

occupier when the mill caught fire in 1854 and it is 

his executors who advertised the mill for sale in 

1880. But before the sale is recorded, the details of 

the fire, written up in the Sussex Weekly Advertiser, 

June 13 1854, are of interest:  

ȿ#ÌÚÛÙÜÊÛÐÖÕɯÉàɯ%ÐÙÌɯÖÍɯ!ÈÙÊÖÔÉÌɯ.ÐÓɯ,ÐÓÓȮɯÖÕɯ3ÜÌÚËÈàɯ

morning last for some time in the occupation of and 

under the management of Mr. R. H. Billeter and 

ÐÕÚÜÙÌËɀ 

ȿ3ÏÌɯÔÐÓÓɯÞÈÚɯÈÉÖÜÛɯƕƔƔɯÍÌÌÛɯÓÖÕÎɯÉàɯÈÉÖÜÛɯƚƔɯÍÌÌÛɯ

deep. It was mainly for the purpose of manufacturing 

oil and cake, but the power during the summer season 

was applied to grind flour, hence the stock of about 

250 quarters of corn which were destroyed during the 

ÉÓÈáÌȭɀ 

ȿ6ÐÛÏɯÓÈÙÎÌÚɯ×ÈÛÊÏÌÚɯÖÍɯÉÜÙÕÐÕÎɯÖÐÓɯÍÓÖÈÛÐÕÎɯËÖÞÕɯÛÏÌɯ

river, fears were raised of setting the corn mill alight 

further downstream. Mill was still burning in places 

the following Sunday evening. Damage estimated at 

ÉÌÛÞÌÌÕɯÚÌÝÌÕɯÈÕËɯÌÐÎÏÛɯÛÏÖÜÚÈÕËɯ×ÖÜÕËÚȭɀɯ 

Surprisingly, after only four months, Billiter was 

advertising that he was in a position to supply cake 

for present use, and that he had every reason to 

believe the mill destroyed by fire in June last would 

be at work again within the next month.  

In June 1856 Billiter leased the lower corn mill for a 

period of 21 years.  

He died on the 27 August 1879 and in October both 

mills were advertised for sale by his executors on 

behalf of his widow.  

 The 1880 sales notice in the Sussex Weekly Advertiser 

gives us further details of the mill:  

ȿ3Öɯ ÉÌɯ ÚÖÓËɯ Éàɯ ÈÜÊÛÐÖÕɯ Éàɯ ÐÕÚÛÙÜÊÛÐÖÕÚɯ ÍÙÖÔɯ ÛÏÌɯ

ÌßÌÊÜÛÖÙÚɯÖÍɯÛÏÌɯÓÈÛÌɯ1ȭɯ'ȭɯ!ÐÓÓÐÛÌÙɯ$ÚØȭɀ 

ȿ+ÖÛɯƕȭɯ3ÏÌɯ.ÐÓɯÈÕËɯ4××ÌÙɯ%ÓÖÜÙɯ,ÐÓÓȮɯÖÕɯÛÏÌɯ1ÐÝÌÙɯ

Ouse, at Barcombe, a large and substantial building 

120 feet (36.6m.) by 64 feet ((19.5m.): engine house 36 

feet ( 11m.) by 27 feet ( 8.2m.), a detached oil store 45 

feet (13.7m.) square, gas house, cottage, stabling and 

ÖÛÏÌÙɯÉÜÐÓËÐÕÎÚȭɀ 

ȿ3ÏÌɯÔÐÓÓÚɯÈÙÌɯËÙÐÝÌÕɯÉàɯÛÞÖɯÜÕËÌÙÚÏÖÛɯÞÈÛÌÙɯÞÏÌÌÓÚɯ

(one iron and one wood) and a 28 horse power beam 

steam engine, capable of working 80 tons of oil cake 

and about 200 quarters of wheat per week. They are 

arranged throughout with spacious stores and fitted 

with best stiff gear machinery. In the oil mill there are 

two sets of double pumps, 16 hydraulic presses with 

10 in. (254mm.) rams, one pair of granite and one pair 

of York stones: and in the flour mill four pairs of 

French wheat stones. The mills are in the occupation of 

,ÌÚÚÙÚȭɯ6ÐÓÓÐÈÔɯ3ÐÊÒÕÌÙɯȫɯ"Öȭɀ 

Tickner, with the previous foreman, Sayer, then 

worked the oil mill. Their partnership was dissolved 

at the end of December 1887. It is unknown if the 

mill continued working. It is most probable that oil 

production ceased in 1887. The mill was again 

advertised for sale on the 1 June 1891, but as there 

were no bids the property was withdrawn by the 

owners, Messrs. H. Drewitt & Son. Simmons records 

that in 1899 Charles Albert Colbran was at the mill 

and two years later William Hemsley. By March 

1901 Hemsley was advertising ground oats and 

poultry meal for sale. In 1905 E. Kenward owned the 

mill and corn was ground, possibly until the mill 

was demolished in 1925. 

This large oil mill in the south of England was 

helped by being connected first to the Ouse 

Navigation and later, via a siding, to the Uckfield to 

Lewes railway line. Part of the outer walls and floor 

of the mill can still be determined and six runner 

stones remain on the site. 
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Barcombe Mill  

This may be an early site of a fulling mill; later a 

ÚÐÕÎÓÌɯÙÌÍÌÙÌÕÊÌɯÐÕɯ2ÏÖÙÛÌÙɀÚɯȿ/È×ÌÙɯ,ÐÓÓÚɯÈÕËɯ,ÈÒÌÙÚɀɯ

refers to Barcombe Mill as being a paper mill. 

Shorter also writes in 1951 in ȿ-ÖÛÌÚɯÈÕËɯ0ÜÌÙÐÌÚɀ that 

an advertisement in the Post Man, 12 December 1706, 

states that a paper mill, corn mill and lands in the 

parish of Barcombe were to be sold. Often a 

watermill carried out more than one process.  

The first single reference to a corn mill found was 

the Royal Exchange Fire Insurance Policy, No. 91449: 

29 December 1784: 

ȿ3ÏÖÔÈÚɯ1ÐÊÒÔÈÕɯȫɯ2ÖÕɯÖÍɯ!ÈÙÒÏÈÔɯÐÕɯÛÏÌɯ"ÖȭɯÖÍɯ

2ÜÚÚÌßȮɯ,ÐÓÓÌÙÚȭɀ 

ȿ.ÕɯÛÏÌÐÙɯËÞÌÓÓÐÕÎɯÏÖÜÚÌɯÛÐÔÉÌÙɯÉÜÐÓÛɯÈÕËɯÛÐÓÌËɯÚÐÛÜÈÛÌËɯ

at Barkham aforesaid £200. On their Water Corn 

Millhouse timber built and tiled situated near the mills 

therein together with the running tackle £500. On 

ÜÛÌÕÚÐÓÚɯÈÕËɯÚÛÖÊÒɯÐÕɯÛÙÈËÌɯȟƕƔƔƔȭɀɯ 

A second Royal Exchange Fire Insurance Policy, No. 

132132 dated 14 January 1793, records:  

ȿ3ÏÖÔÈÚɯ1ÐÊÒÔÈÕɯȫɯ2ÖÕɯÖÍɯÛÏÌɯ×ÈÙÐÚÏɯÖÍɯ!ÈÙÊÖÔÉÌɯÐÕɯ

ÛÏÌɯ"ÖȭɯÖÍɯ2ÜÚÚÌßȭɀ 

ȿ.Õɯ Èɯ ÏÖÜÚÌɯ ÛÐÔÉÌÙɯ ÉÜÐÓÛɯ ÈÕËɯ ÛÐÓÌËɯ ÚÐÛÜÈÛÌËɯ ÐÕɯ ÛÏÌɯ

×ÈÙÐÚÏɯÈÍÖÙÌÚÈÐËɯȟƗƔƔȭɯ.ÕɯÈɯ6ÈÛÌÙɯ"ÖÙÕɯ,ÐÓÓɯÕÌÈÙɯȟƛƔƔȭɀɯ 

It is uncertain if the Rickmans built the mill around 

1780 or if they owned another mill at this time, then, 

around 1793, built the mill at Barcombe to take 

advantage of the newly opened Ouse Navigation. 

Rickman also owned Barcombe Oil Mill.  

The Royal Exchange Fire Insurance Policy, No. 

173289 dated 13 March 1800, to Thos. Rickman & 

Son increased the value of the mill to £1000 and: 

ȿ6ÈÙÙÈÕÛÌËɯÕÖɯÚÛÌÈÔɯÌÕÎÐÕÌȭɀ 

It is not usual to know the name of the millwright 

looking after a mill, but by virtue of a change in 

ownership in a millwrighting business advertised in 

the Sussex Weekly Advertiser, 29 October 1804 we are 

told:  

ȿ3Öɯ ,ÐÓÓÌÙÚȭɯ 6ÐÓÓÐÈÔɯ 2ÜËËÚȮɯ ,ÐÓÓÞÙÐÎÏÛȮɯ ÛÈÒÌÚɯ ÛÏÌɯ

liberty of informing his friends that he intends carrying 

on the business on his own account. Orders directed to 

ÏÐÔȮɯÈÛɯ,Ùȭɯ/ÈÊÒÏÈÔɀÚɯÖ××ÖÚÐÛÌɯ"ÓÐÍÍɯ"ÏÜÙÊÏȮɯ+ÌÞÌÚȮɯ

will be punctually attended to. William Sudds flatters 

himself, that having been for the last five years, 

constantly employed, and having care and 

Management of Barcombe Mill will be a sufficient 

ÙÌÊÖÔÔÌÕËÈÛÐÖÕȭɀɯɯ 

By 1834 the mill was owned by Russell Gray who is 

recorded in *ÌÓÓàɀÚɯ#ÐÙÌÊÛÖÙà ÈÚɯ ȿ,ÐÓÓÌÙɯ ÈÕËɯ 2ÌÌËɯ

"ÙÜÚÏÌÙȭɀɯ 2ÐÔÔÖÕÚɯ ÙÌÊÖÙËÚɯ ÛÏÈÛɯ ÐÕɯ ƕƜƗƜɯ 1ÐÊÏÈÙËɯ

Jenner was associated with the mill. (Owner/

miller?)  

The mill was advertised for sale in the Sussex 

Weekly Advertiser, 25 April 1848:  

ȿ3ÖɯÉÌɯÚÖÓËɯÉàɯÈÜÊÛÐÖÕɯÖÕɯ,ÈàɯƕƚȮɯƕƜƘƜȮɯÈÛɯÛÏÌɯ2ÛÈÙɯ

Inn, Lewes. The copyhold Corn Mill known as 

Barcombe Mill, situated on the River Ouse. The mill is 

in complete repair, fitted with two powerful breast 

wheels and the most approved machinery, with 12 

pairs of stones, flour dressing machines, and capable 

ÖÍɯÔÈÕÜÍÈÊÛÜÙÐÕÎɯÍÙÖÔɯƙƔƔɯÛÖɯƚƔƔɯÚÈÊÒÚɯ×ÌÙɯÞÌÌÒȭɀɯ 

The advertisement also gave details of the Oil Mill.  

The mill was purchased by Whitfield, Molyneux 

and Whitfield, and in June 1856 leased to Richard 

Billiter who, like Rickman before him, also owned 

Barcombe Oil Mill.  

The Sussex Weekly Advertiser on 27 October 1858 

reported:  

ȿ ÕɯÜÕÜÚÜÈÓɯÈÊÊÐËÌÕÛɯÖÊÊÜÙÙÌËɯËÜÙÐÕÎɯÛÏÌɯÞÌÌÒɯÈÛɯ

Barcombe Mills, the injured person being Mr. Gaston 

who has been employed there these 25 years. Whilst 

sacks of corn were being raised to the upper floor, one 

fell a distance of 18 feet (5.49m.) and fell with frightful 

force on to the head, causing a dislocation of the neck. 

After he had recovered from the shock Mr. Gaston 

put his hands at the back of his neck and forced the 

bone back into position. Mr. Gaston is a strong 

muscular man, otherwise it seems he must certainly 

have been killed. He was seen afterwards by a 

ÚÜÙÎÌÖÕɯÈÕËɯÐÚɯ×ÙÖÎÙÌÚÚÐÕÎɯÍÈÝÖÜÙÈÉÓàȭɀ 

Billiter bought land and both mills from Whitfield 

Molyneux and Whitfield for £24,000 in 1865.     

Stidder and Smith in Volume 1 of Watermills of 

Sussex write that in 1870 a new, very much larger 

mill was built and, like Barcombe Oil Mill, a 

railway siding to the Uckfield to Lewes line 

constructed to it. It was built mainly of pitch pine 

with a semi-classic façade. The mill had four floors 

and is said to have had 8 or 10 pairs of French burrs 

and one peak pair of millstones powered by two 

enclosed waterwheels. Simmons records that one 

was a breast wheel about 12 feet (3.66m.) wide, the 

other being an undershot wheel. (The sale notice 

above mentions the mill had 12 pairs of stones.) 

The appearance of the mill and its size in 1848 

would indicate a building of an earlier date than 

1870, perhaps built by Russell Gray as early as the 

1800s.  

!ÐÓÓÐÛÌÙɯËÐÌËɯÖÕɯÛÏÌɯƖƛɯ)ÜÕÌɯƕƜƛƝȭɯ!ÐÓÓÐÛÌÙɀÚɯÌßÌÊÜÛÖÙÚɯ

on behalf of his widow advertised both the oil/corn 
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mill and the corn mill for sale or rent. Only the  oil 

mill sold; Barcombe Mill was re -advertised and 

subsequently purchased by William Catt, the son of 

William Catt who owned the large tide mill at 

Bishopstone, Newhaven. 

In 1894, The Miller, dated 5 February 1894, reported:  

ȿ!ÈÙÊÖÔÉÌɯ,ÐÓÓÚȮɯ2ÜÚÚÌßȭɯ,ÌÚÚÙÚȭɯ)ÖÏÕɯ"ÈÛÛɯȫɯ"Öȭɯ-ÌÞɯƙ-

sack roller flour mill plant by Turner has just been 

installed. Previously the mills had 12 pairs of stones. The 

mill was taken by Messrs. John Catt & Co. in 1876. 

Motive power for the roller plant is by 50 h.p. compound 

ÌÕÎÐÕÌȮɯȹ×ÙÌÚÜÔÈÉÓàɯÈɯÚÛÌÈÔɯÌÕÎÐÕÌȺɯÈÕËɯÈɯɁ+ÐÛÛÓÌɯ&ÐÈÕÛɂɯ

turbine drives the remaining three pairs of stones for 

ÞÏÌÈÛɯÔÌÈÓȭɀɯ 

Mr. Harry Dobson was in charge from 1900. By 1903 

William Wilmshurst occupied the mill and worked it 

until it closed in 1918.  

By 1922 it was owned by Messrs. Griffiths Hughes of 

Manchester, manufacturers of Karwood poultry food. 

They commissioned a survey of the building with the 

aim of using it for storage. By this time the rolling 

milling equipment had already been removed. 

Interestingly, the survey drawings still show that five 

pairs of millstones remained on the first floor. Perhaps 

these were used together with the rollers. It appears 

that the ground floor layshafts drove these stones and 

the layshafts on the first floor drove the rollers. The 

plans also show a 60hp turbine and a 30hp turbine on 

the first floor. No milling is thought to have been 

carried out.  

In 1932 the buildings were owned by Obediah Corke 

who sold them to Edmund Schwerdt for £1350 for the 

manufacture of buttons. Machinery was installed to 

slice nuts, imported from South America, to make 

coat buttons. Water power was not used. In March 

1939 the building caught fire and burnt to the 

ground. All that remains today as a reminder of 

what was once one of the largest mills in Sussex are 

two peak stones by the river bank. However, these 

are not two original stones from the mill, but came 

from Rockhill Windmill in 1922.  

Barcombe Horse-Gin or Threshing Floor  

A Grade II octagonal horse-gin or threshing floor with a 

central wooden post and surrounding wooden posts 

surmounted by a thatched roof stands in front of 

Barcombe Church. If it housed a gin it is not known for 

what purpose. Possibly it was to mill flour or animal feed . 

Selected Sources 

1. The Simmons Collection. 

2. East Sussex Record Office. 

3. Sussex Record Society Volume 34. 

4. History of Sussex Volume 1 by Lower, published in 

1870 by John Russell Smith. 

5. Notes on Watermills and Windmills in Sussex by 

Lower in Volume 5 of the Sussex Archaeological 

Collections. 

6. Watermills of Sussex, Volume 1 ɬ East Sussex, by Derek 

Stidder & Colin Smith published by Baron Birch.  

7. History of Corn Milling by Bennett and Elton Volume 2 

first published in 1899 by Simpkin, Marshall and Co. 

Ltd.  

8. Sussex River, Upstream, From Lewes to the Sources by 

$ËÕÈɯȫɯȿ,ÈÊɀɯ,Ê"ÈÙÛÏàɯ×ÜÉÓÐÚÏÌËɯÐÕɯƕƝƛƝɯÉàɯ+ÐÕËÌÓɯ

Organisation Ltd.  

Fig. 4 

The Flour Mill in c.1870 

showing a barge in front 

of the mill, and railway 

wagons on the siding to 

the left. (Reeves Studio, 

Lewes.) 
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Fig. 4  Griffiths Hughes 1922 Survey Drawings ɭ Ground Floors (East Sussex Record Office) 
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Fig. 5  Griffiths Hughes 1922 Survey Drawings ɭ First, Second and Third Floors (East Sussex Record Office) 
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THE BUTTON FACTORY AT 
BARCOMBE MILLS 

Mike Green, Stephen Green & 

Peter Cox 

Introduction  

Barcombe Mills is situated at the tidal limit of the 

River Ouse at GR TQ433148 in the parish of 

Barcombe, Sussex, some 15km from the sea.  

From 1932 to 1939 a button factory was based in the 

corn mill and the adjacent buildings. The whole 

must have made an impressive sight in an 

essentially rural part of Sussex. 

The Company  

The history of the button factory at Barcombe Mills 

begins with the purchase by Edmund Schwerdt of 

the 'mill, engine house, warehouse, office and site' 

from a local farmer Obed Corke on 2 June 1932 and 

ends with the destruction of the premises by fire on 

the night of 9 March 1939. 

Edmund Schwerdt was the youngest son of Richard 

Schwerdt (1862-1939).  Richard Schwerdt had moved 

from his native Germany to join the London 

company of CA & E Speyer Co Ltd, general dry good 

merchants and importers of notions (see glossary), 

principally buttons and braid.  Richard Schwerdt's 

rise in the company was rapid as he became partner 

at the age of 22, and 5 years later the firm was 

renamed Speyer, Schwerdt & Co Ltd.  Marriage in 

1888 to Mathilde von Guaita brought great inherited 

wealth, enabling him to relinquish active 

management of the company whilst retaining the 

chairmanship.  Richard Schwerdt set out to enjoy the 

life that pleased him most - that of the English 

country gentleman.  (Schwerdt family history).  

Speyer, Schwerdt & Co Ltd of 5 & 7 Golden Lane, 

London EC1 traded successfully up to the outbreak 

of the Great War but during the war and throughout 

the 1920s trading was difficult.  In 1928 the British 

government introduced a safeguard import duty of 

ƗƗǘǔɯÈÕËȮɯÈÓÛÏÖÜÎÏɯÛÏÌɯÊÖÔ×ÈÕàɯÞÈÚɯÚÖÓÝÌÕÛȮɯÛÏÌɯ

decision was made to go into voluntary liquidation 

which was finalised on the 24 December 1930. 

Edmund, by now a 26-year-old employee of the 

Fig. 1. A conjectural bird's eye view of  Barcombe Mills Button Factory (1932-1939) from the north-east, showing the 

corn mill and the adjacent buildings.  The wharf cottage (office) has been excluded to illustrate the position of the main 

buildings in relation to the Carpenters' Shop, far right, which survived the fire . (Not to scale.) 

Corrugated iron-clad building used to store 
vegetable ivory nuts, constructed on concrete 
legs to guard against the risk of flooding 

Former kiln 

Warehouse 

Toll gate 

Mill pond 

Engine room 

River Ouse 

Site of Wharf 
Cottage 

�&�D�U�S�H�Q�W�H�U�V�¶��
Shop 


